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May 15, 2003

SENSITIVE

MEMORANDUM

TG: THE COMMISSION )

THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR

o
ROBERT J. COSTA ﬁ?C'
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTO

FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON ’
ASSISTANT STAFEJDIRECTOR

REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2002 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY REPORT

Attached are two lists of polifical committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil moncy
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2002 October
Quarterly Report. The first list represents committees that have paid the civil money
penalty and the second list represents those that have not paid. The commattees that have
not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the Commission’s RTB
finding to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send & final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.,

Seven committees have filed reports afier the RTB finding where the actual level
of activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that
assessed at RTB. Two of the committees, Friends of Ken Eggleston (AF #777) and
McCoy for Congress (AF #779) disclosed zero receipts and disbursements, thus bringing
the final civil money penalty for both committees to zero as well. Three other
committees, Florida Sugar Cane League PAC (AF #742), Supporters of Engineers Local
3 Endorsed Candidates (SELEC) (AF #746) and Dan Hagood for Congress, Inc. (AF



sTa pand the crod mones penadties assessed at REB we will therefore issue a refund of

Cre duterenee bt ceenot pard and the araonnt assossed gl Tl Jeterniiation.

Ve actuad lovel of activiny and receipt date of the reporis, as well

a5 the revised eivibneones penalties, are retlected on the attached fists,

RAD Recommendation
(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the

attached lists {(cxcept for the committee and treasurer noted in recommendation 2)
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penaltics so indicated.

(3) Scnd the appropriate letters.



COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Vontengton, DC 20463

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Thursday, May 15, 2003 _ 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Tuesday, May 20, 2003 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2002 Gctober Quarterly Report . Memorandum from
the Assistant Staff Director, Reperts Analysis Division dated

May 15, 2003.
() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
) | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object {please insert AF#)

() i approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() 1 approve the recommendaticns except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION

SENSITIVE



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTTON

In the Matter of

Final Determination Recommendation for
the 2002 COctober Quarterly Report
Administrative Fines Program:

LAWRENCE R WIESNER FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and LAWRENCE R WIESNER as
treasurer;

SOCIETY OF THORACIC SURGEONS POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE; THE (STS PAC), and
ROBERT WILBUR as treasurer;

IUPAT MEMBER AND FAMILY FUNDRAISING PC
ACCOUNT, and George Galis as
treasurer;

TECO ENERGY INC EMPLOYEES' PAC, and
ROBIN J HASTINGS as treasurer;
NATIONAL ITALIAN AMERICAN POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and VINCENT M
LASORSA (CPA MBA as treasurer;

NATIONAIL: PROPANE GAS ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
-PROPANEPAC, and Rocldan, Richard as
treasurer;

RHODE ISLAND REPUBLICAN STATE CENTRAL
COMMITTEE, and Drew, Merrill C. as
treasurer;

LARRY XING FOR CONGRESS, and RALPH E
HUGHES as treasurer;

MARK BAISLEY FOR CONGRESS, and MARK
BAISLEY as treasurer;

JIM SULLIVAN FOR CONGRESS, and PAUL E
DISANTC as treasurer:

FRIENDS OF KEN EGGLESTON, and
Jacqueline Eggleston, as

treasurer;

MCCOY FOR CONGRESS, and JOHN KIERNAN
as treasurer;

SEAN MAHONEY FOR CONGRESS, and RUTH
GRIFFIN ag treasurer;

V-./\_’\.—4vvvvvvvvvuvvvvvvvvvvvvvv

— et Mt S et et et Nt et e S

COMMISSTON

AF#

AF#

AF#H

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AFi#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

716

722

727

730

734

745

150

754

775

776

777

779

782



Federal Election Commission
Certification for administrative Fines
May 20, 2003

AKRAM FOR CONGRESS INC, and NANCY
SCHEUERMANN as treasureX;

ROSS FOR CONGRESS, and VERONICA MCLECD
as treasurer;

SKORSKI FOR CONGRESS, and ALAN SKORSKI
as treasurer;

REPUBLICANS FOR PHIL BRADLEY, and R R
SHEALY as treasurex;

MIKE GREENE FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE,
and JOE T KELLEY as treasurer;

DUR MAINES FOR CONGRESS, and JOE M
MAINES as treasurer;

FRIENDS OF MARGARET WORKMAN, and
ALBERT V MAYS JR as treasurer;

vvvv-—avuvvvvvvv

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

Page

783

784

785

787

789

791

795

2



Federal Election Commission Page 3
Certification for Administrative Fines
May 20, 2003

CERTIFILCATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal Election

:; Commission, do hereby certify that on May 20, 2003, the
Commigsion took the following actions on the Final

Pad Determination Recommendation For The 2002 Octoker Quarterly
Report in the Administrative Fines Program, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated May 15,

2003, on the following committees:

AR 716: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that LAWRENCE R WIESNER FOR
COMGRESS COMMITTEE, and LAWRENCE R WIESNER as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2} send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 722: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SOCIETY OF THORACIC
SURGEONS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE; THE (STS PAC),
and ROBERT WILBUR as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assBess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mascn, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

APH T727: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a



Federal Election Commission rage 4
Certification for Administrative Fines
May 20, 2003

final determination that IUPAT MEMBER AND FAMILY
FUNDRAISING PC ACCOUNT, and George Galis as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434({(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 730: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that TECO ENERGY INC EMPLOYEES'
PAC, and ROBIN J HASTINGS as treasurer, violated 2
U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 734: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NATIONAL ITALIAN AMERICAN
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and VINCENT M LASORSA
CPA MBA as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
agsess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 745: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NATIONAL PROPANE GAS
ASSOCTATION POLITICAL ACTICON COMMITTEE -PROPANEPAC,
and Roldan, Richard as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDomnald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 750: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that RHODE ISLAND REPUBLICAN
STATE CENTRAL COMMITTEE, and Drew, Merrill C. as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434({a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated;: (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
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May 20, 2003

Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFf 754: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that LARRY KING FOR CONGRESS,
and RALPH E HUGHES as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFP# 775: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MaRK BAISLEY FOR CONGRESS,
and MARK BAISLEY asg treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDeonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 776: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determinaticn that JIM SULLIVAN FOR CONGRESS,
and PAUL E DISANTO as treasurer., violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 777: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FRIENDS OF KEN EGGLESTON,
and Jacqueline Eggleston, as treasurer,

violated 2 U.S5.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
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letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF# 779: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MCCOY FOR CONGRESS, and

T JOHN KIERNAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)

3 and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2}
send the appropriate letter. Commiesioners Mason,

il McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
i affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 782: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SEAN MAHONEY FOR CONGRESS,
A and RUTH GRIFFIN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

Ry 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so

' indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 783: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AKRAM FOR CONGRESS INC, and
NANCY SCHEUERMANN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 784: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that ROSS FOR CONGRESS, and
VERONICA MCLEOD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C.

434 (a) and assess the c¢ivil money penalty so
indicated; (2} send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 785: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SKORSKI FOR CONGRESS, and

ALAN SKORSKI as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
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send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 787: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that REPUBLICANS FOR PHIL
BRADLEY, and R R SHEALY as treasurer, violated 2

g U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
; indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
U and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

ol AF# 789: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
it final determination that MIKE GREENE FOR CONGRESS

_é COMMITTEE, and JOE T KELLEY as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 791: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DUB MAINES FOR CONGRESS,
and JOE M MAINES as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 795: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FRIENDS OF MARGARET
WORKMAN, and ALBERT V MAYS JR as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

i Attest:

e v A3 HX<C03 f % Lul/_qwz_ F‘-}ﬂ"cfigg_.

Date {1 Mary W. Dove
Secretary of the Commission



SUBSEQUENT TO THE 5/15/03 MEMORANDUM TC THE COMMISSION IN
WHICH THEY WERE LISTED AS NOT HAVING PAID, THE COMMITTEES IN
THE FOLLOWING CASES HAVE PAID CIVIL PENALTIES:
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FOR: IECO ENERGY 1rrLoveest pac &
FEC 1D#: CO0161422
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FOR RHODE ISLAND REP&ICAN STATE CENT 0
FEC ID# C00078196

| — AF# 750

| PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE $1250
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THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE
16, 107, 73~, 78
#7250, 7% 7% 1¢4, 7¢7 79/

DATE FILMED 9/45/2’3 CAMERANO. ¥4

CAMERAMAN &
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